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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Marvin Lilly asks the Supreme Court to accept
review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part
B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lilly requests review of the decision in State v.

Marvin Antonio Lilly, Court of Appeals No. 83660-9-1 (slip

op. filed February 13, 2023), attached as an appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. A disputed issue at trial was whether the
temporarily inoperable gun with the broken firing pin met
the definition of a "firearm" as that term was defined and
used in the jury instructions. In arranging for the jury to
examine the device during deliberations, the court told the
jury that the device was a "firearm," thereby assuming a
critical fact in dispute. Is reversal of the convictions

required because the court's remark constituted a judicial



comment on the evidence and the record does not
affirmatively show lack of prejudice?

2. The State's expert diagnosed Lilly with
cannabis use disorder but did not explain how this
diagnosis affected her opinion on the diminished capacity
issue. Did the trial court err in permitting the jury to
consider evidence of this diagnosis because it was
irrelevant under ER 401 and unduly prejudicial under ER
4037

3.  The court excluded testimony that Lilly was in
a gang as part of the State's case-in-chief. The State's
primary witness violated that order by testifying that Lilly
identified himself as being in a gang. Is a new trial
required because the irregularity was serious, singular
and not likely to be cured by the court's instruction to

disregard?



4. Did a combination of errors violate Lilly's due
process right to a fair trial under the cumulative error
doctrine?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Marvin Lilly called his step-grandfather, Ronald
Coleman, and asked to meet him at a church where
Coleman served as a security guard. RP 427-28, 439-42.
After Coleman arrived, Lilly twice pointed a gun at
Coleman and pulled the trigger, but the gun did not fire.
RP 444, 446-49, 466, 475. Coleman subdued Lilly. RP
453-54. 911 was called. RP 456.

The gun was admitted as Exhibit 69 at trial. RP 530.
The gun was sent to the crime lab for examination. RP
705-06. Richard Wyant, a forensic scientist, disassembled
the gun and observed the tip of the firing pin was broken
off. RP 627, 632-33, 638. The gun did not fire for this
reason. RP 648. Wyant replaced the pin, which can be

purchased for $5, and fired the gun. RP 632, 634.



Firearm experts know how to replace firing pins, as
they are trained to do so. RP 649-50. It typically takes
Wyman a minute or two to replace the firing pin in a
firearm. RP 634-35. Wyman knew how to disassemble
the firearm at issue because he had been working with
firearms for 25 years. RP 663. Wyman said just about
every firearm has a video on YouTube on how to operate
it, though he did not specify whether there was a
YouTube video for the firearm he examined. RP 635.

Officer Rodriguez-Johnston, the officer who
recovered the gun, had seven years of law enforcement
experience. RP 1076. She received firearms training at
the police academy. RP 1076. She regularly handled
firearms as part of her job. RP 1076. She did not know
how to disassemble the firearm. RP 1081. She did not
know how to replace the firing pin. RP 1081.

Dr. Juergens, a psychiatrist testifying for the

defense, conducted a forensic evaluation of Lilly. RP 731,



734. Dr. Juergens diagnosed Lilly as having a delusional
disorder, persecutory type. RP 742. Lilly believed
Coleman was against him and his family, and that
Coleman had sexually targeted him. RP 750-57.

According to Dr. Juergens, Lilly's delusions
motivated him to confront Coleman to make him back off.
RP 757-58, 773. Lilly had tried to shoot the gun before
the incident and knew it wouldn’t work, which was a factor
in bringing the gun to confront Coleman — he wanted to
show he was a man and ward Coleman off but did not
want to kill him. RP 762-65, 778, 799, 808, 818.

Dr. Simpson, a forensic psychologist testifying for
the State, opined Lilly's ability to form premeditated intent
was not impaired by a mental condition, and he therefore
had the requisite capacity for intent and knowledge as
well. RP 911, 928, 946-47.

Lilly faced charges of second degree assault with a

firearm enhancement, unlawful possession of a firearm,



and first degree attempted murder. CP 8-9. The court
gave a diminished capacity instruction covering all three
charges. CP 53. The jury found Lilly guilty of second
degree assault with a firearm enhancement and first
degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 24-25, 27.
It acquitted on the attempted murder charge. CP 26.

On appeal, Lilly argued the convictions should be
reversed because the trial court commented on the
evidence, did not sustain the defense objection to Dr.
Simpson's testimony that Lilly suffered from cannabis use
disorder, and that disclosure of Lilly's gang affiliation
constituted a reversible trial irregularity. The Court of

Appeals affirmed the convictions. Slip op. at 1.



E. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. IN SPEAKING TO THE JURY, THE COURT
IMPERMISSIBLY COMMENTED ON THE
EVIDENCE BY ASSUMING A MATERIAL
FACT IN DISPUTE.

A disputed issue at trial was whether the temporarily
inoperable gun with the broken firing pin met the definition
of a "firearm."” The jury instructions required the State to
prove the gun could be rendered operational with
reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period to
be considered a "firearm." When the jury examined the
device in court during deliberations, the judge told the jury
that the device was a “firearm." The judge's remark
assumed a critical fact at issue, thereby violating the
constitutional prohibition against judicial comments on the
evidence. This case presents a significant question of
constitutional law calling for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The jury instructions fix what is at stake here. The

to-convict and special verdict instructions required the



State to prove the use and possession of a "firearm.” CP
40, 43, 45, 57. The court defined "firearm" as follows:

A "firearm" is a weapon or device from which
a projectile may be fired by an explosive such
as gunpowder. A temporarily inoperable
firearm that can be rendered operational with
reasonable effort and within a reasonable time
period is a "firearm."” A disassembled firearm
that can be rendered operational with
reasonable effort and within a reasonable time
period is a "firearm." CP 44 (emphasis
added).

The State proposed this definitional instruction,
making it the law of the case. RP 387-88, 720-21, 979-

81:; Lutheran Day Care v. Shohomish County, 119 Wn.2d

91, 113, 829 P.2d 746 (1992).

During deliberations, the jury sent a note to the
court, stating "We would like to examine the firearm." CP
58. The judge decided to bring the jury into the courtroom
to view this piece of evidence. RP 1252. The following
ensued:

THE COURT: Good afternoon, folks.
Come on back to your seat. You can go



ahead and be seated, please. All right. We
received your request to examine the firearm,
which | believe Madam Clerk, correct me, is
Exhibit 69; is that correct?

MADAM CLERK: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. So, it's here in the
courtroom in the plexiglass box. What we're
going to do is give you a chance to just come
up and look at it. Let me stress this is — you're
not in — you're not deliberating at the moment.
In other words, deliberations are when you're
alone, discussing about it. Because this is a
tool that has obvious implications, it's a
firearm, we're bringing you back in here to
look at it. RP 1256-57 (emphasis added).

Whether the exhibit examined by the jury was a
“firearm"” was an issue of disputed fact. When the judge
told the jury that "this is a tool that has obvious
implications, it's a firearm," he commented on the
evidence.

Article 4, section 16 of the Washington Constitution
commands: "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to
matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the
law." A court's statement is a comment on the evidence

"if the court's attitude toward the merits of the case or the



court's evaluation relative to the disputed issue is

inferable from the statement." State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d

825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). The court's personal
feelings need not be expressly conveyed to the jury to
violate this constitutional provision; it is sufficient if they

are merely implied. State v. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d 736,

744, 132 P.3d 136 (2006).

When the judge told the jury that "this is a tool that
has obvious implications, it's a firearm,” the judge
assumed the establishment of a fact integral to the State's
case. RP 1256. The court expressly stated Exhibit 69 was
a "firearm" and implicitly treated the issue of whether it
constituted a "firearm" as a foregone conclusion. The
parties vigorously disputed whether the gun with the
broken firing pin constituted a "“firearm” as defined in the
jury instruction. RP 1191-92, 1232-34, 1242-43. The

judicial comment resolved a critical factual dispute.

-10 -



In communicating with the jury, the court cannot
assume a fact is true when it is in dispute. State v.
Haack, 88 Wn. App. 423, 430, 958 P.2d 1001 (1997),

review denied, 134 Wn.2d 1016, 958 P.2d 314 (1998);

see State v. Dewey, 93 Wn. App. 50, 58, 966 P.2d 414

(1998), review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1024 (1999) (jury

instruction, in referring to "the rape" without qualification,
allowed the jury to infer that the judge accepted the alleged
victim's  testimony that she had in fact been raped),

overruled on other grounds by State v. DeVincentis, 150

Wn.2d 11, 21, 74 P.3d 119 (2003).

The Court of Appeals, however, held the judge did
not comment on the evidence because "the trial court's
reference to the gun as a ‘firearm’ could be a comment on
the evidence only if the court were referring to the gun in
its condition when the alleged crimes were committed,"
but evidence showed the gun was in a different condition

during trial. Slip op. at 8-9. According to the Court of

-11 -



Appeals, "the trial court's statement was a clear reference
to the gun at the time the jury requested to examine it."
Slip op. at 9.

The problem cannot be so easily dismissed. The
judge's reference to Exhibit 69 as a "firearm" contained no
temporal qualification. The jury, in asking to examine this
exhibit, did not make the temporal distinction drawn by
the Court of Appeals. The only conceivable reason for
the jury's request to examine the firearm would be to aid
in its determination of operability. The jury needed to
determine as an issue of fact whether the device admitted
as Exhibit 69 was readily operable. The gun, as it was
presented to the jury during trial and upon the jury's
request for examination, retained significance for the jury
in this regard. If it hadn't, there would have been no
reason for the jury to ask to examine Exhibit 69.

The judge remarked upon a disputed fact at trial.

"[Alny remark that has the potential effect of suggesting

-12 -



that the jury need not consider an element of an offense

could qualify as judicial comment." State v. Levy, 156

Wwn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). The jury could
infer from the judge's statement that the judge believed
the exhibit was a firearm. It is enough that "the court's
evaluation relative to the disputed issue is inferable from
the statement." Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838.

The Court of Appeals also opined "the jury attached
no special significance to the court's use of the term

‘firearm™ because the attorneys, witnesses, and jury used
the term themselves. Slip op. at 9-10.

The constitution does not prohibit witnesses and
attorneys from commenting on the evidence. Rather, the
constitution prohibits judges from commenting on the
evidence because it is universally known that "the
ordinary juror is always anxious to obtain the opinion of

the court on matters which are submitted to his

discretion." Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838 (quoting State v.

-13-



Crotts, 22 Wash. 245, 250-51, 60 P. 403 (1900)). That
others, including the jury, used the term does not answer
the question of whether the judge conveyed his opinion
on a factual question in dispute.

Suppose the judge had instructed the jury that
"Exhibit 69 is a firearm." How would that not remove an
element from the jury's consideration, even in the face of
the jury using the term “firearm" in asking to view the
exhibit? The judge's oral remark at issue here carries the
same effect.

Suppose in a case involving a rape charge that a
police officer testified that the defendant raped the victim,
the attorneys referred to a rape occurring, and the jury
asked a question about "the rape." The court then
instructed the jury in a manner that assumed the
defendant raped the victim. Under the Court of Appeals'

logic, there would be no judicial comment on the evidence

-14 -



because others used a term that assumed the fact at
issue. There is no authority for such a proposition.

Judicial comments on the evidence are presumed
prejudicial and the State has the burden of proving
otherwise. Levy, 156 Wn.2d at 725. Reversal is
mandated unless the record affirmatively shows no
prejudice could have resulted. Jackman, 156 Wn.2d at
745.

The court's comment is prejudicial error because Lilly
disputed the State’s allegation that the gun was a "firearm"
for purposes of establishing the firearm element. Without a
“firearm" finding, there is no crime.

Absent the judicial comment, it is conceivable the
jury could have found the inoperable firearm did not meet
the legal definition of a "firearm" because Lilly could not
render it operational with reasonable effort and within a

reasonable time period.

-15 -



The State's firearm expert said the firing pin could
be quickly replaced to make a gun operable, but the
State's expert had specialized knowledge based on
decades of experience and training that enabled him to
do so. RP 620, 634-35, 648-89, 659, 663.

Conversely, the police officer who had firearm
training and years of experience did not know how to
dissemble the gun or replace the firing pin. RP 1076,
1081. Whether the gun could be rendered operational
with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period
was a debatable question for rational jurors. The State
cannot overcome the presumption of prejudice from the
judicial comment. Reversal of the convictions is required.

2. ADMISSION OF EXPERT TESTIMONY

THAT LILLY SUFFERED FROM A DRUG
ABUSE DISORDER WAS IRRELEVANT
AND UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL.

The jury learned from the State's expert that Lilly

was diagnosed with cannabis use disorder.  This

-16 -



evidence was irrelevant to the diminished capacity issue
and unfairly prejudicial because it allowed the jury to infer
Lilly was a drug addict. The trial court erred in failing to
sustain defense counsel's objection to it.

Before trial, the defense moved to exclude
testimony about Lilly's drug use, contending it was
irrelevant, highly prejudicial, and would amount to
propensity evidence of prior bad acts under ER 404(b).
CP 102-03; RP 58-59, 61-62. The court granted the
defense motion as to the State's case in chief, but left the
door open to the possibility of permitting the State to elicit
drug evidence depending on how the defense expert
testified. RP 386.

Dr. Juergens, the defense expert, made no
reference to drug use or Lilly being diagnosed with
cannabis use disorder.

Dr. Simpson, the State's expert, testified after Dr.

Juergens. When the State asked Dr. Simpson if Lilly had

-17 -



any mental issue, Simpson noted that she diagnosed Lilly
with cannabis use disorder. RP 929-30. Defense
counsel objected and the parties argued about
admissibility outside the presence of the jury. RP 930-43.
The court ruled that reference to the drug disorder was
not highly prejudicial but that no further questions should
be elicited on the subject. RP 942-43.

Relevant evidence is "evidence having any tendency
to make the existence of a fact that is of consequence to
the determination of the action more probable or less
probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401.
Irrelevant evidence is inadmissible. ER 402.

That Lilly suffered from a drug disorder did not tend
to prove or disprove whether Lilly had diminished capacity
to form the requisite intent to commit the charged
offenses. Dr. Juergens, the defense expert, said nothing
about cannabis use disorder; it did not factor into his

opinion. Thus, there was nothing for the State, through its

-18 -



expert witness, to rebut in this regard. The evidence was
not relevant to counter Dr. Juergens's opinion.

Dr. Simpson, meanwhile, did not indicate in any way
shape or form that the presence of cannabis use disorder
tended to prove Lilly had the capacity to form intent.
Simpson simply testified that Lily had the disorder and
then nothing more was said about it. RP 930. Indeed,
the trial court's ruling shut down further inquiry on the
matter, as it let Dr. Simpson's answer stand but did not
permit further discussion about its significance. RP 942-
43. In so ruling, the court ensured its irrelevance.

The only diagnosis that had any relevance to the
case was the delusional disorder diagnosis. That was the
mental disorder that Dr. Juergens relied on in forming his
diminished capacity opinion. RP 742, 750-58, 773. And
that was the only disorder that Dr. Simpson took into
consideration in arriving at her opinion that Lilly's capacity

to form intent was not impaired. RP 949-50, 973. It was

-19 -



fair game for Dr. Simpson to talk about the delusional
disorder because Dr. Juergens made this disorder an
iIssue in the case and Simpson was responding to that.
The Court of Appeals opined that Dr. Simpson's
testimony on the cannabis diagnosis was relevant "to
show that Dr. Simpson's evaluation of Lilly was as
complete and competent as that made by Dr. Juergens."
Slip op. at 13. But whether Simpson conducted a full
evaluation was not an issue in the case. The defense did
not challenge Simpson's opinion on the ground that she
should have taken the cannabis use disorder diagnosis
into account. If the jury had been told absolutely nothing
about the cannabis use disorder diagnosis, the jury would
have received the same testimony and opinion from Dr.
Simpson on the diminished capacity issue. The diagnosis
was immaterial because it did not factor into Simpson's

diminished capacity analysis.

-20 -



Suppose Dr. Simpson had diagnosed Lilly with
necrophilia. Or arachnophobia. Or an eating disorder.
Those are all mental disorders. Under trial court's theory
of admissibility, endorsed by the Court of Appeals, any
diagnosis of any mental disorder would be relevant to the
diminished capacity issue simply because it would show
Dr. Simpson conducted a thorough evaluation by
identifying all mental disorders present.

Such reasoning is empty. Just because a person
has a diagnosed mental disorder doesn't mean it has a
role to play in determining whether the person has
capacity to form intent under the diminished capacity
standard. The disorder at issue must be a fact in
consequence. In this case, the cannabis use disorder is
not a fact in consequence. This evidence was irrelevant
because it had no tendency to make diminished capacity

more or less probable.

-1 -



Even if the diagnosis retained relevance, relevant
evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is
substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice,
confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury." ER 403.

The Court of Appeals observed Lilly "cites to no
decisional authority holding that a sole mention of
cannabis use disorder constitutes unfair prejudice.” Slip
op. at 14. The Court of Appeals did not cite any authority
that it can't be unfairly prejudicial. The question of unfair
prejudice is necessarily an inquiry grounded in the
specific facts of a given case.

The Court of Appeals thought that "[g]iven the
limited nature of Dr. Simpson's testimony regarding
cannabis use disorder, coupled with Washington's
legalization of private marijuana possession, the danger
of unfair prejudice in this circumstance appears minimal."

Slip op. at 14.

-22 -



Dr. Simpson's testimony may have been limited, but
it took on outsize importance because the jury was
removed from the courtroom when the objection was
lodged and did not return until 49 minutes later for the
resumption of the doctor's testimony. RP 930, 945. The
jury could not be expected to forget that which had
prompted their removal.

More importantly, the prejudicial effect attached to
mere legal drug possession is not at issue here. When
the jury heard that Lilly had a cannabis use disorder, it
heard that Lilly had a drug addiction. Evidence of drug
addiction carries a significant danger of unfair prejudice

against the defendant. State v. Renneberg, 83 Wn.2d

735, 737, 522 P.2d 835 (1974), State v. LeFever, 102

Wn.2d 777, 783-84, 690 P.2d 574 (1984).
An evidentiary error is prejudicial if, within
reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would

have been materially affected had the error not occurred.

-23-



State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001).

A new trial is necessary when there is no way to know
what value the jury placed upon the improperly admitted

evidence. Thomas v. French, 99 Wn.2d 95, 105, 659

P.2d 1097 (1983). What is known is that "[t]he impact of
narcotics addiction evidence 'upon a jury of laymen [is]
catastrophic." LeFever, 102 Wn.2d at 783. Under these
circumstances, there is a reasonable probability that the
jury took the improper expert testimony on the cannabis
use disorder into account in reaching its guilty verdicts.
Lilly seeks review of this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(4).
3. INFLAMMATORY GANG TESTIMONY
VIOLATED LILLY'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT
TO A FAIR TRIAL.
Coleman's testimony that Lilly identified himself as a
gang member constitutes a trial irregularity because it
violated the pre-trial order of exclusion. The Court of

Appeals held there was no error presented for review

because there was no request for a mistrial. Slip op. at

- 24 -



14-15. This holding conflicts with Supreme Court
precedent, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The trial court granted the defense motion to
exclude any mention of gangs in the State's case in chief.
RP 386. Coleman, however, testified during the State's
case-in-chief that Lilly told him "You know, you think I'm a
gang-banger. You know, you think I'm stupid, you know . . .
because I'm in a gang?" RP 435. The court sustained
defense counsel's objection and granted counsel's motion
to strike, telling the jurors to disregard Coleman's answer.
RP 435-36.

“The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty
secured by the Fourteenth Amendment." Estelle v.
Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d
126 (1976). A trial irregularity can deny the right to a fair

trial. State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 251, 254, 742 P.2d

190 (1987). In deciding whether a trial irregularity had

this impact, courts examine (1) its seriousness, (2)

- 25 -



whether it involved cumulative evidence, and (3) whether
a curative instruction was capable of curing the
irregularity. Id. at 254.

Violation of a pre-trial order is a serious trial

irregularity. State v. Gamble, 168 Wn.2d 161, 178, 225

P.3d 973 (2010). Coleman's testimony about Lilly being
in a gang directly violated the trial court's pretrial ruling
excluding such evidence in the State's case in chief. RP
386.

Gang evidence is prejudicial due to its general

“inflammatory nature." State v. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. 543,

579, 208 P.3d 1136, review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1001, 220

P.3d 207 (2009). Evidence of gang membership can lead
the jury to attach a propensity for committing crimes to

defendants who are affiliated with gangs. United States

v. Harris, 587 F.3d 861, 867 (7th Cir. 2009). Simple
association with gangs is enough to trigger propensity

concerns. State v. Ra, 144 Wn. App. 688, 701-02, 175

- 26 -



P.3d 609, review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1016, 195 P.3d 88

(2008).

As to the second irregularity factor, Coleman's
testimony about Lilly identifying as a gang member was
the sole reference to gang evidence. Coleman's improper
testimony on the point is in no way cumulative.

The third factor is whether the irregularity was
capable of being cured by an instruction to disregard.
Escalona, 49 Wn. App. at 254. While jurors are
presumed to follow court instructions, "no instruction can
remove the prejudicial impression created by evidence
that is inherently prejudicial and of such a nature as to
likely impress itself upon the minds of the jurors.” Id. at
255.

The jury could not reasonably be expected to
unhear what they heard about Lilly identifying as a gang
member because there is a deep hatred of street gangs in

this country that causes fear in the hearts of most.
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People v. Rivera, 145 Ill. App. 3d 609, 617-18, 495

N.E.2d 1088 (lll. Ct. App. 1986); People v. Albarran, 149

Cal. App. 4th 214, 231, n.17, 57 Cal. Rptr. 3d 92 (Cal. Ct.
App. 2007). The negative feelings and thoughts of
propensity to commit crime engendered by Coleman's
gang testimony created an unacceptable danger that the
jury was improperly influenced into finding guilt. "A trial in
which irrelevant and inflammatory matter is introduced,
which has a natural tendency to prejudice the jury against

the accused, is not a fair trial." State v. Miles, 73 Wn.2d

67, 70, 436 P.2d 198 (1968).

The Court of Appeals, though, held there was no
error at all. Slip op. at 15. According to the Court of
Appeals, defense counsel's lack of request for a mistrial

foreclosed further relief, citing State v. Giles, 196 Wn. App.

745, 769-70, 385 P.3d 204 (2016), review denied, 188

Wn.2d 1007, 393 P.3d 356 (2017).
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The Court of Appeals relied on the proposition that
"Counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a
favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the
claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for a
new trial or on appeal.™ Slip op. at 17 (quoting Giles, 196
Wn. App. at 769-70).

Lilly did not remain silent. His counsel objected and
moved to strike the offending testimony. Counsel did not
need to move for a mistrial on top of all that to present
this error on appeal.

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Teter v.
Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336 (2012). In Teter, the
Teters objected to the other party's misconduct and
requested curative instruction. Teter, 174 Wn.2d at 225-
26. The Court of Appeals held the Teters waived their
claim to a new trial because they did not move for a
mistrial, citing the proposition that a party may not "wait

and gamble on a favorable verdict" before claiming error.
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Id. at 225 (quoting Nelson v. Martinson, 52 Wn.2d 684,

689, 328 P.2d 703 (1958)).

The Supreme Court rejected that holding, first
because it ignored the exception for misconduct so
flagrant that no instruction can cure it. Id. at 225.
Second, the Teters objected, so they did not remain
silent. 1d. at 226. In terms of prejudice, the question was
whether the court's instructions cured the misconduct. Id.
"It would be onerous to require a party to also move for
mistrial to preserve a claim for error based on
misconduct.” |d. at 226.

The same principle applies to Lily's case. The error
is Coleman's improper gang testimony. That error exists
regardless of whether a motion for mistrial was made. This
IS a preservation issue. Lilly objected to Coleman's
testimony. That by itself preserves the issue for appeal.
More than that, Lilly moved to strike the testimony, and the

court instructed the jury to disregard. The error is
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preserved twice over. The only question is whether the
instruction worked. That is a question properly presented
on appeal. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to engage
it. "Where a trial irregularity is claimed, the question is
whether the record reveals a substantial likelihood that
the trial irregularity affected the jury verdict, thereby

denying the defendant a fair trial." State v. Hicks, 41 Wn.

App. 303, 313, 704 P.2d 1206 (1985) (citing State v.
Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762-63, 675 P.2d 1213
(1984) (treating misconduct as a form of trial irregularity)).
The lack of request for a mistrial does not answer the
guestion of whether the right to a fair trial was violated.
The Court of Appeals recasted Lilly's claim of error as
claiming the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial and
then dispensed with that recast claim on the ground that no
request for a mistrial was made. That approach conflicts
with this Court's decision in Teter, which was cited to the

Court of Appeals but ignored. Brief of Appellant at 55-56.
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The Court of Appeals' handwringing about double
jeopardy is misplaced because it is predicated on treating
Lilly's argument as one claiming the court should have
granted a mistrial sua sponte. Slip op. at 16-17. That
again misconstrues Lilly's legal argument. Lilly's argument
Is not that the trial court erred in failing to grant a mistrial.
Lilly's argument is that the irregularity caused incurable
prejudice such that a new trial should be granted on
appeal.

4. CUMULATIVE ERROR VIOLATED LILLY'S
DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

Under the cumulative error doctrine, a defendant is
entitled to a new trial when it is reasonably probable that
errors, even though individually not reversible error,
cumulatively produce an unfair trial by affecting the

outcome. State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 788-89, 684

P.2d 668 (1984); Parle v. Runnels, 505 F.3d 922, 927

(9th Cir. 2007); U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. An
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accumulation of errors affected the outcome and
produced an unfair trial in Lilly's case, including (1) judicial
comment on the evidence, E.1., supra; (2) expert
testimony on Lilly's cannabis use disorder, section E.2.,
supra; (3) Coleman's gang testimony, section E.3., supra.
Lilly seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Lilly respectfully requests
that this Court grant review.
| certify that this document was prepared using word
processing software and contains 4987 words
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.
DATED this 14th day of March 2023.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
P

e,
CASEY GRANNIS

WSBA No. 37301
Office ID No. 91051
Attorneys for Petitioner
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
DIVISION ONE
Respondent,
No. 83660-9-I
V.
UNPUBLISHED OPINION
MARVIN ANTONIO LILLY,

Appellant.

DWYER, J. — Marvin Lilly appeals from the judgment entered on a jury’s
verdicts finding him guilty of assault in the second degree while armed with a
firearm and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. On appeal, he
contends that the trial court impermissibly commented on the evidence and
erroneously declined to strike testimony of the State’s expert witness. Lilly
further contends that he was denied a fair trial due to testimony that he identified
as a gang member, notwithstanding the fact that the trial court granted to Lilly all
relief sought to correct the purported error. We conclude that these assertions of
error are without merit and affirm Lilly’s convictions.

Lilly additionally asserts, and the State concedes, that the trial court
imposed a condition of community custody without making the requisite findings
to authorize the imposition of that condition. We accept the State’s concession.

Accordingly, we remand this matter to the trial court to consider whether, based
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on the record presented, the requisite findings to support the condition can be
made.
|

Marvin Lilly is the step-grandson of Ronald Coleman, who married Lilly’s
maternal grandmother in 2002. When Lilly was a child, he lived with his
grandmother and Coleman “on and off” when his mother traveled for work.
Coleman attended Lilly’s basketball games and tried to act as a mentor to keep
Lilly “on the right path.” At he got older, Lilly continued to live with his
grandmother and Coleman for periods of time when there were disagreements in
his mother's home. Coleman continued to try to mentor Lilly.

Around 2016, Lilly went to North Carolina to visit his father. He returned to
Washington in early 2019 after losing his job. Lilly was living out of his car.
When he asked his grandmother and Coleman if he could live with them, they
agreed. Coleman helped Lilly get a job, and he drove Lilly to and from work.
Coleman had “mentor talks” with Lilly “[c]lonstantly” during that time.

Lilly, however, felt resentful of Coleman, whom he described as having a
“power trip” and acting like a “drill sergeant.” Lilly blamed Coleman for his
parents’ separation. He reported beliefs that Coleman was a threat to him and to
his family, including that Coleman might have “homosexual designs” toward him.
Not long after Lilly returned to Washington, he witnessed an incident between his
younger brother and Coleman, which he interpreted as threatening to his
brother’s life.

After Lilly returned from North Carolina, Coleman noticed “a certain
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change” in him. One night when Coleman was driving Lilly to work, Lilly
confronted him “out of the blue.” He told Coleman that the way Coleman treated
him made Lilly feel “like he was stupid.” After their discussion, Lilly moved back
into his mother’s home.

Coleman did not see Lilly again until May 16, 2019. On that afternoon,
Lilly called Coleman and asked if they could meet at Coleman’s church, where
Coleman served as an armed security guard. Lilly told Coleman that he had
something personal to discuss. Coleman agreed to meet with him.

As Coleman was backing into a parking spot at the church, he saw Lilly
approaching his car. Lilly began “grabbing at [the] car door” and looked “really
anxious.” When Coleman unlocked the car door, Lilly stuck his upper body into
the car and pulled a gun out of his pocket. He pointed the gun at Coleman and
pulled the trigger, but the gun did not fire. Lilly then “got to jiggering with” the
gun. He tried to manipulate the slide of the gun and again pointed the gun at
Coleman and attempted to fire it. It did not fire. Lilly tried to manipulate the gun
multiple times.

Coleman then jumped out of the car and pulled out his own gun. Lilly
continued to manipulate his gun, it appearing to Coleman as if Lilly was
attempting “to get a round chambered.” Lilly then retreated behind a metal
electrical box in the church parking lot. Coleman ordered Lilly to drop his gun.
When Lilly did not comply, Coleman fired a round at the electrical box. Lilly then
flung his gun away and laid down in a prone position on the ground, where he

remained until police arrived.
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The police officers who responded to the scene discovered a box of
Hornady nine-millimeter ammunition in Lilly’s pocket. They located live
ammunition near the front passenger door of Coleman’s car, which was still
open. In addition, officers located live rounds of ammunition to the left of the
electrical box that were the same brand as those found in Lilly’s pocket. The
magazine of the gun recovered by police contained live rounds, and there was a
round in the chamber of the gun.

Lilly was charged with assault in the second degree with a firearm
enhancement, unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, and attempted
murder in the first degree. The case proceeded to a jury trial.

At trial, Richard Wyant, a forensic scientist with the Washington State
Patrol Crime Lab, testified that he had examined the gun that police had
recovered from the scene. He discovered that “the firing pin was broken.” After
Wyant replaced the firing pin, the gun operated correctly. Wyant testified that
broken firing pins in that type of gun are “very common.” A firing pin costs about
“$5.00,” he explained, and could be replaced easily within a minute or two. Other
than the broken firing pin, Wyant testified, the gun was fully operational.

In closing argument, the State argued that the gun allegedly used by Lilly
“could easily be made operational and repaired easily.” Defense counsel, noting
that Wyant has had extensive firearms training, disputed that Lilly could have
rendered the gun operational with reasonable effort and in a reasonable time
period. In rebuttal, the State again asserted that Lilly could have easily rendered

the firearm operational.
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Before jury deliberations, the trial judge informed the jury that it would
“have the exhibits that have been admitted into evidence,” but that the court
would not “send[] the actual firearm back into the evidence room.” Instead, the
court advised the jury: “If you believe that you need to see the firearm,” the
presiding juror “can use the question form” to make such a request, and “we’ll
facilitate you looking at the firearm.”

The trial court instructed the jury regarding the definition of a “firearm”:

A “firearm” is a weapon or device from which a projectile

may be fired by an explosive such as gunpowder. A temporarily

inoperable firearm that can be rendered operational with

reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period is a “firearm.”

A disassembled firearm that can be rendered operational with

reasonable effort and within a reasonable time period is a “firearm.”
Jury Instruction 12.

The court further instructed the jurors that, in order to convict Lilly of
assault in the second degree, they must find beyond a reasonable doubt that Lilly
assaulted Coleman “with a deadly weapon.” Jury Instruction 8. The jury was
instructed that “[a] firearm, whether loaded or unloaded is a deadly weapon.”
Jury Instruction 11. In addition, imposition of the firearm enhancement required
the jury to find by special verdict that Lilly “was armed with a firearm” when the
assault was committed. Jury Instruction 24.

To convict Lilly of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, the
jury was required to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Lilly had “knowingly

owned a firearm or knowingly had a firearm in his possession or control.” Jury

Instruction 13.
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During its deliberations, the jury submitted the inquiry form to the trial
court, stating: “We would like to examine the firearm.” When the jury entered the
courtroom, the trial judge explained:

We received your request to examine the firearm, which |

believe. . . is Exhibit 69 . . . .

... S0, it's here in the courtroom in the plexiglass box. What
we’re going to do is give you a chance to just come up and look at

it. . . . Because this is a tool that has obvious implications, it's a

firearm, we’re bringing you back in here to look at it.

Defense counsel interposed no objection to the trial judge’s use of the term
“firearm.”

The jury found Lilly guilty of assault in the second degree while armed with
a firearm and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. The jury
acquitted Lilly on the charge of attempted murder in the first degree. The trial
court imposed a total standard range sentence of 77 months of confinement and
18 months of community custody. As a condition of community custody, the trial
court ordered Lilly to “obtain a mental health evaluation and follow all treatment
recommendations including taking all prescribed medications.”

Lilly appeals.

I

Lilly first contends that the trial court impermissibly commented on the
evidence by referring to the gun allegedly used to commit the charged crimes as
a “firearm.” This is so, according to Lilly, because the jury was required to find
that the gun met the definition of “firearm” in order to convict him of the charged

crimes. We disagree. In stating that the gun was “a firearm,” the trial court was

referring to the gun as presented to the jury at trial—not to the gun in its condition
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when the alleged crimes were committed. Because the trial court did not convey
an opinion regarding whether the gun met the operability definition when the
alleged crimes occurred, the court did not comment on the evidence.?!

Article 1V, section 16 of our state’s constitution provides: “Judges shall not
charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall
declare the law.” The purpose of this prohibition on judicial comments on the
evidence “is to prevent the jury from being influenced by knowledge conveyed to
it by the court as to the court’s opinion of the evidence submitted.” State v.
Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 275, 985 P.2d 289 (1999). “An impermissible comment
on the evidence is an indication to the jury of the judge’s personal attitudes

toward the merits of the case.” State v. Ciskie, 110 Wn.2d 263, 283, 751 P.2d

1165 (1988).

A trial court’s statement constitutes a judicial comment on the evidence if
the statement “reveal[s] the court’s ‘attitudes toward the merits of the case’ or
reflect[s] the court’s personal opinion of any disputed issue before it.” State v.
Bass, 18 Wn. App. 2d 760, 804, 491 P.3d 988 (2021) (quoting State v. Levy, 156

Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006)). Article IV, section 16’s prohibition on

1 Lilly contends that judicial comments on the evidence are manifest constitutional errors
and, thus, that he may raise this unpreserved claim of error for the first time on appeal. The State
disagrees, relying on Division Two’s decision in State v. Gouley, 19 Wn. App. 2d 185, 197, 494
P.3d 458 (2021), and asserts that we should review the claim of error only if Lilly demonstrates
actual prejudice resulting therefrom.

Our Supreme Court, however, has held that judicial comments on the evidence constitute
manifest constitutional errors that may be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Levy, 156
Wn.2d 709, 719-20, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). We take our Supreme Court at its word and will not
assume that the court overruled its precedent sub silentio. See State v. Lupastean, 200 Wn.2d
26, 40, 513 P.3d 781 (2022) (“Where we have expressed a clear rule of law . . . we will not—and
should not—overrule it sub silentio. To do so does an injustice to parties who rely on this court to
provide clear rules of law.” (alteration in original) (quoting Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.,
166 Wn.2d 264, 280, 208 P.3d 1092 (2009))).
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such comments “forbids only those words or actions which have the effect of
conveying to the jury a personal opinion of the trial judge regarding the credibility,
weight or sufficiency of some evidence introduced at the trial.” State v.
Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d 491, 495, 477 P.2d 1 (1970). To determine whether a trial
court’s statement amounts to a comment on the evidence, we “look to the facts
and circumstances of the case.” Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d at 495. “The fundamental
guestion underlying our analysis of judicial comments is whether the mere
mention of a fact . . . conveys the idea that the fact has been accepted by the
court as true.” Levy, 156 Wn.2d at 726.

Here, in response to an inquiry submitted by the jury requesting to
‘examine the firearm,” the trial court informed the jury that, given safety
concerns, the court would bring the jurors back into the courtroom to do so. The
court explained: “Because this is a tool that has obvious implications, it's a
firearm, we’re bringing you back in here to look at it.” Lilly contends that,
because the jury was required to find that the gun met the instructional definition
of “firearm” when the alleged crimes were committed, the trial court’s reference to
the gun as a “firearm” was a judicial comment on the evidence. We disagree.

Lilly’s contention is premised on a temporal assumption that is
unsupported by the record. Specifically, the trial court’s reference to the gun as a
“firearm” could be a comment on the evidence only if the court were referring to
the gun in its condition when the alleged crimes were committed. However,
ample evidence was submitted to the jury that the gun was in a different

condition during trial than on May 16, 2019. Coleman testified extensively that,
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despite Lilly repeatedly pulling the trigger and “jiggering with” the gun, the gun did
not fire. Following recovery of the gun from the scene, a firearms expert with the
local police department confirmed that the gun, in its condition at that time, was
inoperable. The gun was then sent to the Washington State Patrol for further
testing. As forensic scientist Wyant testified at trial, the gun’s firing pin was
broken. After he replaced the firing pin, the gun became fully operable and was
able to be fired.

In order to convict Lilly of assault in the second degree while armed with a
firearm and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, the jury was,
indeed, required to find that the gun was a “firearm.” Pursuant to the court’s
instruction to the jury, a “firearm” includes a “temporarily inoperable firearm that
can be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time
period.” Jury Instruction 12. Lilly is incorrect, however, that the trial court
provided an opinion regarding whether the gun—at the time of the events at
issue—met this definition. Rather, the trial court’s statement was a clear
reference to the gun at the time the jury requested to examine it. Given the
testimony presented at trial, the jury was well-informed that the gun was in a
different condition at trial than on the date of the alleged crimes. “Juries are not

leaves swayed by every breath,” United States v. Garsson, 291 F. 646, 649

(S.D.N.Y.1923), and we will not second-guess the ability of the jurors here to
perform the duty with which they were tasked.
Further evidencing that the jury attached no special significance to the

court’s use of the term “firearm,” defense counsel, the prosecutor, the witnesses,
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and even the jury itself frequently employed the term during trial without any
objection by defense counsel. Lilly asserts that whether witnesses and attorneys
used the term “firearm” is irrelevant, because only comments on the evidence
made by the court itself are constitutionally proscribed. However, Lilly
misunderstands the materiality of the repeated use of the term throughout trial.
The frequent use of the term “firearm” indicates that attorneys, witnesses, and—
most importantly—the jury did not infer that its use demonstrated that the gun
met the operability definition applicable in this case. Rather, the participants at
trial understood that references to the “firearm” were meaningful only within the
context of the evidence presented.?

The contested fact at trial, which the jury was tasked to resolve, was
whether the “temporarily inoperable firearm” used by Lilly on May 16, 2019 could
“be rendered operational with reasonable effort and within a reasonable time
period.” Jury Instruction 12. Within the context of the evidence presented to the
jury, the trial court’s use of the term “firearm” did not convey an opinion regarding
whether the gun could have been made operational on the date of the alleged
crimes or that the court had accepted any such fact as true. Rather, that factual
issue was properly determined by the jury itself, without exposure to any

indication of the court’s attitude regarding the merits of the case.

2 Lilly also asserts that the trial court’'s statement conveyed to the jury that the gun was
dangerous and, therefore, operable. According to Lilly, the statement that the gun “is a tool that
has obvious implications, it’s a firearm,” indicates “that the device was in fact operable.” Reply
Br. of Appellant at 13. Maybe so. But so what? The trial court’s statement regarding the
dangerous nature of the gun at trial conveyed an opinion regarding only the gun’s operability at
the time of deliberations. It did not convey the trial court’s opinion regarding whether the gun
could have been made operable on the date of the alleged crimes, which was the disputed fact
that the jury was tasked to resolve.

10
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The record demonstrates that the trial court, in referring to the gun as a
“firearm,” was referencing the gun in its condition at trial. Accordingly, the court’s
statement was not a comment on the evidence.

11l

Lilly additionally contends that the trial court abused its discretion by
declining to strike the testimony of forensic psychologist Jolene Simpson, Ph.D.,
that she had diagnosed Lilly with cannabis use disorder. We disagree. Dr.
Simpson’s testimony was relevant to establishing that she had engaged in the
“two-step process” of performing a forensic evaluation and, thus, had thoroughly
and competently performed that evaluation. The trial court did not abuse its
discretion in determining that Dr. Simpson’s brief mention of the diagnosis was
both relevant and not unfairly prejudicial.

We review a trial court’s ruling on the admissibility of evidence for an

abuse of discretion. State v. Ortuno-Perez, 196 Wn. App. 771, 783, 385 P.3d

218 (2016). “Abuse exists when the trial court’s exercise of discretion is
‘manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons.” State

v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 619, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) (quoting State v. Powell,

126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)). In other words, “[a] trial court
abuses its discretion if ‘no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the

trial court.” State v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 59, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022) (internal

guotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 914, 16

P.3d 626 (2001)).

Evidence is relevant if it has “any tendency to make the existence of any

11
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fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or
less probable than it would be without the evidence.” ER 401. Generally, all
relevant evidence is admissible, although evidence “may be excluded if its
probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.”
ER 402, 403. “The threshold to admit relevant evidence is very low. Even
minimally relevant evidence is admissible.” Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 621.

Here, Lilly asserted a diminished capacity defense to the charged
offenses. In support of this defense, he presented the testimony of psychiatrist
Steven Manley Juergens, M.D. Dr. Juergens diagnosed Lilly with delusional
disorder, and he opined that Lilly had delusional beliefs about Coleman that
impacted his behavior on the day of the alleged crimes.

To rebut Lilly’s diminished capacity defense, the State presented the
testimony of Dr. Simpson. Dr. Simpson testified that performing a forensic
evaluation to assess diminished capacity is a “two-step process.” First, the
evaluator must determine if the individual has a mental disorder. Second, the
evaluator must determine whether that disorder impaired the individual’'s ability to
form the requisite intent to commit the charged crimes. When the State asked
Dr. Simpson to convey her findings regarding the first step of the evaluation
process, she testified: “[IjJn my assessment of Mr. Lilly, the diagnosis that |
provided was cannabis use disorder.” Regarding the second step of the
evaluation process, Dr. Simpson testified that she did not find any impairments in
Lilly’s capacity to form the requisite intent to commit the charged crimes.

Defense counsel objected to Dr. Simpson’s testimony that she had

12
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diagnosed Lilly as a person with cannabis use disorder. Out of the presence of
the jury, the trial judge and counsel engaged in a lengthy discussion regarding
pretrial rulings and the admissibility of Dr. Simpson’s testimony. Following this
discussion, the trial court ruled that the diagnosis testimony was relevant to show
that Dr. Simpson’s evaluation was thorough and complete. The trial court
additionally ruled that the testimony was not unfairly prejudicial. The court
determined, however, that any additional testimony regarding cannabis use
would not be relevant and, thus, prohibited the State from eliciting further
testimony on the issue. Dr. Simpson did not further testify regarding the
diagnosis.

Lilly first asserts that Dr. Simpson’s brief testimony regarding the
diagnosis was inadmissible because it was not relevant to his diminished
capacity defense. This is so, he contends, because Dr. Simpson opined that
cannabis use disorder did not affect Lilly’s ability to form the requisite mental
state to commit the charged crimes. We disagree. The relevance of Dr.
Simpson’s testimony is not to demonstrate whether Lilly could form the requisite
intent to commit the charged crimes, but to show that Dr. Simpson’s evaluation of
Lilly was as complete and competent as that made by Dr. Juergens.

As Dr. Simpson explained, performing a forensic mental evaluation is a
“two-step process” involving the identification of a mental disorder, if any, and
then evaluating the disorder’s impact on the ability to form intent. Thus, whether
Dr. Simpson made a diagnosis in the first step of that process is hecessarily

pertinent to her subsequent assessment of whether any diagnosis impacted

13
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Lilly’s ability to form the requisite intent to commit the charged offenses. As the
trial court ruled, the cannabis use diagnosis was relevant to demonstrate that Dr.
Simpson, like defense expert Dr. Juergens, had performed a thorough and
competent evaluation of Lilly’s mental capacity.

Lilly additionally contends that the trial court abused its discretion in
concluding that Dr. Simpson’s testimony regarding cannabis use disorder was
not unfairly prejudicial. However, Lilly cites to no decisional authority holding that
a sole mention of cannabis use disorder constitutes unfair prejudice. Moreover,
to exclude this testimony on the basis of ER 403, its probative value must be
“substantially outweighed” by the danger of unfair prejudice. Given the limited
nature of Dr. Simpson’s testimony regarding cannabis use disorder, coupled with
Washington’s legalization of private marijuana possession, the danger of unfair
prejudice in this circumstance appears minimal. The trial court did not abuse its
discretion in ruling that the single mention of this disorder was admissible.

The relevance and admissibility of evidence is the purview of the trial
court, and we will reverse an evidentiary ruling only when no reasonable person
would have so ruled. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 59. The trial court did not err by
determining that Dr. Simpson’s testimony was both relevant and not unfairly
prejudicial.

v

Lilly next asserts that Coleman’s testimony in violation of a ruling in limine

constitutes an irregularity requiring reversal of his convictions. Again, we

disagree. Defense counsel’s objection to the testimony was sustained, the

14
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motion to strike the testimony was granted, and the trial court instructed the jury
to disregard Coleman’s remark. Defense counsel requested no further relief.
Accordingly, there was no error.

“An irregularity in trial proceedings is grounds for reversal when it is so

prejudicial that it deprives the defendant of a fair trial.” State v. Condon, 72 Wn.

App. 638, 647, 865 P.2d 521 (1993). When a defendant seeks a mistrial due to
testimony contravening an exclusionary ruling, and the trial court denies the
defendant’s motion, we must determine whether the prejudice resulting from the

offending testimony was sufficient to warrant a mistrial. State v. Christian, 18

Wn. App. 2d 185, 199, 489 P.3d 657 (2021). However, when a defendant
receives all relief sought, and no further remedy is requested, any claim that the
trial judge should have imposed a further remedy is forfeited. State v. Giles, 196
Wn. App. 745, 769, 385 P.3d 204 (2016) (when a defendant receives the
remedies he requests, “[tlhe law presumes that these remedies are effective”).
Before trial, Lilly moved for permission to cover his visible tattoos with
makeup to prevent the jury from speculating about gang affiliation. The State did
not oppose this request, but explained that evidence of Lilly’s gang involvement
was relevant to the case. Specifically, the State’s theory was that Lilly’s
membership in a gang resulted in conflict between Lilly and Coleman, leading to
the resentment and anger that motivated Lilly to commit the charged offenses.
Thus, the State sought to present evidence of an incident in which Lilly
confronted Coleman “about how he’s treated, and — and since he’s known that he

was in a gang, and how he doesn’t like how he makes him feel like he’s stupid.”

15
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The trial court granted Lilly’s motion to exclude evidence regarding this
discussion of gang affiliation between Coleman and Lilly in the State’s case in
chief.

During direct examination, Coleman testified regarding his relationship
with Lilly. He stated that, in the weeks preceding the alleged crimes, he noted a
“certain change” in Lilly. Coleman testified:

[O]ne night | was taking him to work, and we were talking like we

normally do. And then all of a sudden, he just came out of the blue

and says, “You know, you think I'm a gang-banger. You know, you

think I’'m stupid, you know . . . because I'm in a gang?”

Defense counsel immediately objected and moved to strike Coleman’s
testimony. The trial court sustained the objection and granted the motion to
strike. The court instructed the jury to “disregard the previous two answers given
by the witness.” There was no further testimony regarding gang involvement.

Lilly sought no further remedy.

Our decision in Giles is controlling. In Giles, as here, the defendant

asserted that a witness’s testimony in violation of a ruling in limine deprived him
of his right to a fair trial, notwithstanding the fact that the trial court “struck the
offending testimony and issued a curative instruction” and defense counsel
‘requested no other remedy.” 196 Wn. App. at 765. On appeal, Giles asserted
that the purported error required a new trial. Giles, 196 Wn. App. at 765.
However, “Giles’ argument is—at its core—that the trial court erred by not
declaring a mistrial, even though Giles did not request a mistrial.” Giles, 196 Wn.
App. at 769.

We recognized that “[tJo accede to Giles’ appellate request [for a new
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trial] would be to put trial judges in untenable positions.” Giles, 196 Wn. App. at
770. “Had the trial judge declared a mistrial without Giles’ assent, the double
jeopardy bar might well have prevented his retrial.” Giles, 196 Wn. App. at 769.
“[Flor this and other reasons,” we held, “a mistrial should be granted only when
nothing that the trial court could have said or done would have remedied the
harm done by the trial misconduct.” Giles, 196 Wn. App. at 769. We concluded
that, by striking the offending testimony and instructing the jury to disregard that
testimony, the trial court had “imposed [the] appropriate remedial measures.”
Giles, 196 Wn. App. at 769.

Indeed,

[i]t is a principle of long standing that a trial attorney who

does not request a remedy forfeits the claim that the trial judge

should have imposed that remedy. “Counsel may not remain

silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is

adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a

motion for a new trial or on appeal.” State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d

24, 93, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (quoting Jones v. Hogan, 56 Wn.2d
23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960)).

Giles, 196 Wn. App. at 769-70.

Here, defense counsel objected to Coleman’s testimony implying that Lilly
identified as a gang member and moved to strike the testimony. The trial court
sustained the objection and granted the motion to strike. The court immediately
instructed the jury to disregard the offending testimony. Significantly, Lilly sought
no further remedy. The law presumes that the remedies granted by the trial court
were effective. Giles, 196 Wn. App. at 769. The court did not err by granting
Lilly the relief that he sought. See Giles, 196 Wn. App. at 765.

Lilly was not denied a fair trial when the trial court granted all requested
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relief in response to testimony that contravened the court’s exclusionary ruling.®
We conclude that, in declining to sua sponte declare a mistrial, the trial court did
not err.*

\

Lilly additionally contends that the trial court lacked the authority to impose
a mental health community custody condition and, thus, that the condition must
be stricken from the judgment and sentence. The State concedes that the trial
court did not make the requisite statutory findings to impose the condition, but
asserts that the appropriate remedy is to remand to the trial court for a
determination of whether the record supports such findings. We accept the
State’s concession and agree that remand is appropriate.

A trial court may order a mental health evaluation and participation in
mental health treatment as a condition of community custody only “if the court
finds that reasonable grounds exist to believe that the offender is a mentally ill
person as defined in RCW 71.24.025, and that this condition is likely to have

influenced the offense.” RCW 9.94B.080. See also State v. Shelton, 194 Wn.

3 State v. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. 251, 742 P.2d 190 (1987), cited by Lilly in asserting that
a trial irregularity may require a new trial, is inapposite. There, the defendant moved for a
mistrial, and the trial court denied the defendant’s motion. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. at 253.
Accordingly, the question on appeal was whether the trial court had abused its discretion in
denying the motion for a mistrial. Escalona, 49 Wn. App. at 254-55. See also Christian, 18 Wn.
App. 2d at 198-200; Condon, 72 Wn. App. at 647-50. Neither a request for a mistrial nor denial of
such a request occurred here.

4 Lilly additionally contends that he was denied the right to a fair trial due to cumulative
error. “Under the cumulative error doctrine, a defendant may be entitled to a new trial when
cumulative errors produce a trial that is fundamentally unfair.” State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741,
766, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). However, here, Lilly’s claims of error, including that the trial court
impermissibly commented on the evidence, abused its discretion in allowing testimony regarding
Dr. Simpson’s diagnosis, and denied him a fair trial due to gang-related testimony, are
unmeritorious. Finding no error in the judgment on the jury’s verdicts, we also conclude that Lilly
was not denied a fair trial due to cumulative error.
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App. 660, 675-76, 378 P.3d 230 (2016). When the trial court has not made the
requisite findings to order such a community custody condition, we have
‘remand[ed] to determine whether to order a mental health evaluation according

to the requirements set forth in former RCW 9.94B.080 [2008].” Shelton, 194

Wn. App. at 676.

Here, public safety and Lilly’s own well-being may be served by a mental
health evaluation and treatment. Moreover, the imposition of the community
custody condition is rehabilitative and does not increase the punitive aspect of
the sentence. Thus, we remand to the trial court to consider, based on the
record presented, whether the requisite statutory findings can be made to
support the imposition of the condition or whether that condition must be
eliminated from the sentence.

We affirm Lilly’s convictions. We remand to the trial court to consider
whether the record supports imposition of the challenged community custody
condition.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded.

WE CONCUR:

%ﬂgk% /)
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